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LABOUR RELATIONS REFORM BILL 2002 
Committee 

Resumed from 18 June.  The Chairman of Committees (Hon George Cash) in the Chair; Hon Nick Griffiths 
(Minister for Racing and Gaming) in charge of the Bill. 

Clause 114:  Section 29A amended - 

Progress was reported after the clause had been partly considered. 

Hon ALAN CADBY:  Proposed paragraph (c) referred to in subclause (3) and proposed subsection (2c) referred 
to in subclause 4 deal with variations to awards not being in the public domain.  If employer-employee 
agreements need to be in the public domain, why not publish variations to awards?  If the system is to provide 
fair wage conditions under clause 113, people should have the information on what standards are being used and 
a measuring stick by which they can make their comparisons.  This is particularly important to those employers 
and employees involved in EEA negotiations.  If everything else is in the public domain, why are variations 
restricted? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  These provisions deal with service requirements when there is already an award 
between parties.  The proposition is that these need not be published in the Government Gazette, which is an 
expense.  In any event, it is a matter for determination by the chief commissioner.  The parties to the award will 
know what is going on so there will be no need to go to the expense of publishing the information in the 
Government Gazette. 

Hon ALAN CADBY:  Will the information be published so that people can gain access to it?  It is important that 
people affected by EEAs see what other people are getting.  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  This provision relates to a process that may lead to a variation in an award.  When a 
variation or an award is made, it will be published.  However, these are service requirements. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 115:  Part II Division 2A heading and section 36A inserted - 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  The Opposition has two main concerns about this clause, and has an amendment on the 
Notice Paper.  The first concern is that the clause has the effect of the reversing the onus of proof, and the second 
relates to proposed subsections (2) and (3), which deal with the making of an interim award.  Apparently there 
has been an instance where the commission has held that there was a prima facie right for a union to have an 
award, but my understanding is that some justices have suggested that that should not be the case.  I ask the 
minister to explain what is intended, and whether it is likely to succeed.  One of the greatest concerns of the 
Opposition is the reversal of the onus of proof.  It has been laid down in law.  Part of this clause refers to the 
making of an award if it is in the public interest.  I would like to know how that is determined, because this 
clause changes the balance in favour of the unions.  The Opposition strongly opposes this clause.  

The CHAIRMAN:  Hon Ray Halligan has foreshadowed an amendment which has the effect of deleting this 
clause.  In effect he could just vote no to the question, rather than move the amendment.  If the Committee is 
happy with it, Hon Ray Halligan could withdraw the amendment and simply vote against the clause.  

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I withdraw the amendment.  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Hon Ray Halligan has raised three issues on this clause.  In relation to the first point - 
the reversal of the onus - it is the view of the Government that employees should be afforded the protection of a 
suitable award, that it should not be up to the employees’ representatives to prove that an award is needed, and 
that it is proper that the onus should be on the employer to provide just reason why an award should not be 
granted.  I note the point that the onus has been reversed.   

The second issue was that of interim awards.  An interim award process will provide immediate protection to 
employees who do not have award protection when there is an urgent need to provide it.  It is expected that, 
when an interim award is made, a final award would in due course be arrived at.   

The third point related to the public interest.  It is not as the honourable member suggests.  I refer to section 26 of 
the Industrial Relations Act, which refers to the things the commission must consider in the exercise of its 
jurisdiction.  Section 26(1)(c) reads - 

shall have regard for the interests of the persons immediately concerned whether directly affected or not 
and, where appropriate, for the interests of the community as a whole; 
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Section 26(1)(d) requires the commission to take a number of other matters into account.  

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  The Greens (WA) agree with the Government on this issue.  It is a good thing to 
improve and enhance the ability of those presently not on awards to apply for award coverage.  The onus of 
proof has been shifted reasonably in this instance.  We believe this clause is a positive move and we cannot 
support its removal.  

Hon ALAN CADBY:  I strongly support Hon Ray Halligan.  He asked the question I intended to ask, about what 
is meant by the public interest.  In the minister’s explanation of the meaning of public interest, is it likely that 
there will be a conflict between the interest of the employees and employers and the interest of the public at 
large?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The commission would take into account a number of considerations.  The honourable 
member asks about a likelihood, which is a speculative question.  There may be a possibility that the interests of 
an employer and an employee could be married and be contrary to the public interest.  If one goes back decades, 
there is a history of so-called sweetheart arrangements, which some would argue are very contrary to the public 
interest.  The commission has a duty, as set out in the Act.  The proper likelihood is that it is to be expected that 
public officers of this kind will carry out their duty.  

Hon ALAN CADBY:  Who would bring that to the attention of the commission?  Would it be a third party, such 
as another union that may have a related work force or enterprise?   

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The question relates to who would appear and make submissions.  First, the 
commission can form its own view having regard to what it hears, and it is required to do under the Act.  Section 
27 of the Industrial Relations Act as it now stands - it is not proposed to amend it - states -  

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this Act, the Commission may, in relation to any matter before 
it -  

 . . .  

(k) permit the intervention, on such terms as it thinks fit, of any person who, in the 
opinion of the Commission has a sufficient interest in the matter; 

Clause put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (17) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Jon Ford Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Graham Giffard Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon Christine Sharp  
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Dee Margetts Hon Tom Stephens  
Hon Adele Farina Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers  

Noes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Clause thus passed. 

Clause 116:  Section 38 amended and a savings provision - 
The CHAIRMAN:  I notice that there is an amendment in the name of Hon Ray Halligan.  As it has the effect of 
deleting the clause, there is no need to move it.  The member can certainly speak to it and in due course vote 
against the clause. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I accept that advice, Mr Chairman.  I will certainly speak against this clause.  Should 
this clause be passed, it appears that a party who was engaged in an industry to which the award did not 
previously apply could be added to the award.  Common rule would then apply to the remainder of that industry.  
Our concern is where the employer fits in all this.  An employer may start up a new industry, and that industry 
will be attached to an award by adding the employer, and anybody else who can be incorporated into the scope 
of the industry will be caught up in the process.  It appears as though we have yet again a collective situation - an 
industry situation - with little, if any, concern for individual enterprises and their needs.  What does the minister 
believe will be achieved by inserting this clause? 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL - Wednesday, 19 June 2002] 

 p11597a-11610a 
Hon Alan Cadby; Hon Nick Griffiths; Hon Ray Halligan; Chairman; Hon Dee Margetts; Hon Murray Criddle; 

Hon Peter Foss 

 [3] 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The current arrangement is that the restriction is to the particular employer.  This will 
enable the award to be extended to the industry by virtue of the common rule provisions. 

Hon ALAN CADBY:  I read the notes from the other place about this clause, and I must admit I got a little 
confused.  There was talk about videos and digital video discs.  Does the minister want to say something?  Is he 
not surprised that I get confused? 

Hon N.D. Griffiths:  I was about to say that if you read the Hansard from the other place, that would necessarily 
occur.  I never read it. 

Hon ALAN CADBY:  Okay.  I was trying to get my head around this clause.  Am I right in thinking that if a 
new business is started within an existing enterprise, the coverage of the employees’ wages and conditions will 
be tacked onto an existing award, so long as that award does not affect the people who are already working in 
that enterprise?  Therefore, within an organisation, people may be doing a similar job but under different awards.  
Is my reading of the clause correct? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  In fact, what is sought to be achieved is the opposite to what the honourable member 
has proposed. 

Hon Alan Cadby:  I will stop reading the Hansard from the other place. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  That is good advice. 

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  The Greens (WA) believe that if the clause were deleted as proposed, it would limit the 
ability to add a named party or employee to an award, and the award that had been negotiated would be limited 
to the particular employer.  Most members, including even opposition members, have indicated that sometimes 
awards may not be suitable to everybody.  The reality is that this will give people the ability to find those 
arrangements that suit them in making a workplace harmonious.  That is a good idea.  Therefore, we will not 
support the deletion of the clause.  

Clause put and a division taken with the following result -  

Ayes (17) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Jon Ford Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Graham Giffard Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon Christine Sharp  
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Dee Margetts Hon Tom Stephens  
Hon Adele Farina Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers  

Noes (14) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon George Cash Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott  

Clause thus passed. 

Clause 117:  Sections 40A and 40B inserted -  
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  Proposed section 40A provides for the incorporation of industrial agreement provisions 
into awards by consent.  However, of course not everyone has a chance to consent to what will be covered under 
an award.  If an EEA were about to be registered and the registrar had looked around for a suitable award, even 
nationally, but could not find one, then an industrial agreement would be incorporated into an award, and that 
would appear to satisfy that need.  However, what would the registrar do in that case?  Would he not refer to that 
industrial agreement? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Proposed section 40A involves the provisions of an industrial agreement being placed 
into an award that covers the employees the subject of that award.  That process requires the consent of the 
parties to the industrial agreement.   

Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  I am at cross-purposes with what the minister has said.  I understood that if a 
majority of people required an industrial agreement, that industrial agreement would be put in place, at the 
exclusion of employee-employer agreements.   

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  What the member has said about EEAs, which I think we discussed some time ago, is 
true.  However, proposed section 40A relates to the circumstances that I referred to a few moments ago.   
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Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  That does not answer the question that I asked.  Would an industrial agreement not 
exclude an employee-employer agreement?   

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  That in substance is the question the member asked previously, and I said yes.  I then 
referred to what proposed section 40A is about.  The member has put forward a proposition about EEAs and 
industrial agreements, and what he says is correct. 

Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  That is the flexibility that we will lose under the arrangements that are being put in 
place by this Government.  That is the point that I made yesterday and that I have made on a number of 
occasions.  That is the issue that everyone needs to understand will impact on the work force in Western 
Australia.   

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  The proposed amendment to delete proposed section 40A will delete the ability to 
incorporate industrial agreement provisions into awards by consent, and the Greens (WA) are not inclined to 
support it.   

Hon ALAN CADBY:  Will the minister identify the parties who have to consent to the incorporation?  If one of 
the parties does not agree with some or all aspects of the industrial agreement being incorporated into the award, 
can the commission overrule that?  Is the award then published in the Industrial Gazette?  If an industrial 
agreement is incorporated into the award, can the amended award then be used in the no-disadvantage test for 
EEAs?   

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The answers to the four questions are as follows: the parties to the industrial agreement; 
no; yes; and yes, but only with regard to the employees concerned.   

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I move -  

Page 124, lines 1 to 23 - To delete the lines and insert instead -  

117. Section 40B inserted 
After section 40 the following section is inserted -  

Amendment put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Noes (17) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Jon Ford Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Graham Giffard Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon Christine Sharp  
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Dee Margetts Hon Tom Stephens  
Hon Adele Farina Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers  

Amendment thus negatived. 

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  I move - 

Page 124, after line 20 - To insert - 

(1a) A party to an award may apply to vary the award to incorporate standards for 
remuneration and the terms and conditions of employment on the basis that those 
standards are prevalent in the industry to which the award relates and, despite 
subsection (1)(c), the Commission may vary the award accordingly if it is satisfied 
that such standards exist and can be ascertained. 

The Greens (WA) believe it is vital that awards reflect industry standards, including standards established by 
enterprise bargainers.  It is also important that they do not give some employers a competitive advantage by 
allowing them to apply or create a situation of substandard rates.  The amendment encourages collective 
bargaining and discourages the ability of employers to try to gain a commercial advantage by reducing the basic 
standards of pay and conditions.   
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Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Proposed section 40A deals with consensual arrangements.  Proposed section 40A(2) 
states that the proposed section does not limit the operation of section 40 of the Act.  Section 40 of the Act gives 
the commission the power to vary an award.  It is the Government’s view that that is the satisfactory process, and 
that what is being proposed by the member goes against the aim of proposed section 40A, which involves the 
consent of the parties.  

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  The Opposition will not support this amendment.  I believe there is provision under 
section 40 to do what the amendment seeks.  I was interested in the argument put forward by Hon Dee Margetts.  
There appears to be an assumption that a level playing field can be created in the wage structure of the labour 
market so that everyone is on exactly the same amount of money, and that the only way one business will better 
another - if I can put it that way - is by employees putting in extra work but not receiving any additional rewards.  
Again, this clause appears to leave out the employer.  

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  I do not want to delay the debate longer than necessary.  I point that the many people in 
small business to whom I have spoken say that that process is occurring now, especially under individual 
contracts.  Particular companies seem to gain a commercial advantage by reducing wages and conditions.  A 
number of employers are unfortunately using that tactic, and other people are put under pressure to also reduce 
their wages and conditions bills.  I do not know what is so horrible about knowing what is a reasonable wage for 
a reasonable standard of work, but I do not believe it is a bad principle.  It is best to discourage the ability of 
businesses to undercut wages and conditions as their main means of competing with their rivals.  

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  The term “conditions” is always used in conjunction with wages.  I know that 
workplace agreements have been emasculated; however, they provided employees with an amount of money 
they were comfortable with.  Admittedly, those employees gave up some of the conditions to which they were 
entitled; however, those conditions often were never used.  Employers instead provided a dollar amount.  
Employers put to their employees the proposition that they might like to receive cash in hand instead of a 
condition they never used.  Many employees took their employers up on that. 

Hon Dee Margetts interjected. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  That is exactly what happened.  It happened to me.  I signed a workplace agreement for 
exactly that reason.  I assure the member that I was better off, as were many thousands of others who signed 
them. 

Amendment put and negatived. 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I move - 

Page 125, line 3 - To insert after “than” - 

or conflict with 

Proposed subsection (1)(d) states that the award must not contain provisions that are obsolete or need updating.  
What is meant by “obsolete” and “need updating”?  We are dealing with an industry or general community 
standard.  In those circumstances, how will the commission determine what is obsolete?  Paragraph (b) uses the 
words “less favourable” when referring to conditions.  It may be difficult to assess exactly what are less 
favourable conditions.  Is the minister able to explain? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The member has raised a number of points.  Something that is obsolete is out of date, 
such as references to allowances or classifications of work that no longer exist.  The other matters are dealt with 
by the commission carrying out its duties under section 26. 

Amendment put and negatived. 

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  I move - 

Page 125, line 11 - To insert after “updating” - 

or that conflict, or are inconsistent with, any relevant statutory provision or requirement 

The classic example of a relevant statutory provision or requirement is superannuation.  Many awards make 
reference to occupational superannuation at the rate of three per cent.  The superannuation guarantee needs to be 
in awards to be enforceable.  This is a reasonable amendment as it provides additional conditions to paragraph 
(d), which states - 

to ensure that the award does not contain provisions that are obsolete or need updating; 

The amendment removes an anomaly in the superannuation entitlements of a number of people. 
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Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The state wage case on superannuation was handed down recently and the commission 
has made provision for people to make application to deal with it.  The Government is opposed to the 
amendment moved by Hon Dee Margetts as it is not necessary.  If an award provision needs to be updated, it can 
be by the use of the words set out in the proposed section as they appear in the Bill. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  The Opposition does not support this amendment. 

Amendment put and negatived. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I move - 

Page 125, line 21 - To insert after “them” - 

, and any employer bound by the award that gives notice to the Commission of a desire to be 
heard, 

Not all parties are necessarily represented by these arrangements.  Employer organisations appear to be denied 
the opportunity to be represented, but they are entitled to be heard.  As such, if an award exists in which an 
employer is bound by common rule, the employer is not a named party to the award.  How will such an employer 
have the opportunity to also be heard on any change or variation to the award? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The proposed section makes specific mention of named parties to the award.  
Employers bound by the award can include employers not named, but are included by common rule.  It is 
considered impossible for the commission to give notice to all such employers.  Common rule awards apply to 
employers who employ certain categories of employees.  However, these provisions are not intended to prevent 
any employer who is bound by the award from being heard in these matters, whether the employer is named or 
otherwise.  An employer, whether named or otherwise, has capacity under the legislation to make application.  
Proposed section 27(1) provides that - 

Except as otherwise provided in this Act, the Commission may, in relation to any matter before it - 

 . . .  

(k) permit the intervention, on such terms as it thinks fit, of any person who, in the 
opinion of the Commission has a sufficient interest in the matter;  

It would be inconceivable that an employer who was a party to the award would not fall within the meaning of 
those words.  It would also be inconceivable that the commission would not do its duty and permit such an 
employer to be heard.  Again, we should be mindful of practice.  The usual practice is for employer 
organisations to make submissions.  On the other hand, it is open to an individual employer to make an 
application or a submission to be heard.  In summary, the law as it stands provides ample opportunity for persons 
who have a proper interest, such as an employer who is a party to an award, to be heard.   

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I thank the minister for that explanation.  However, employers are still required to 
make application and are very much on the outer.  Although that may be normal procedure, they are important 
players in this situation.  They pay the salaries and wages, but they are required to make application to be heard.  
The Liberal Party finds that unacceptable.  

Amendment put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Noes (17) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Jon Ford Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Graham Giffard Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon Christine Sharp  
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Dee Margetts Hon Tom Stephens  
Hon Adele Farina Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers  

Amendment thus negatived. 
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Hon ALAN CADBY:  Reference is made to an employer initiating an award review by the commission.  Can 
someone who is removed, such as a minister of the Crown, request the commission to review an award to 
establish whether it is obsolete?  The provision dealing with updating awards appears to give the commissioner 
enormous powers to change awards without input from other sources.  The commission may need to review its 
attitudes - they may be obsolete and too far removed from the enterprise or industry.  The minister provided a 
definition of “obsolete”, but it is subjective and may give rise to uncertainty regarding the relevance of an award.  
Will this updating of awards have an effect on EEAs, especially those that are newly signed?  If the award used 
as the standard bearer for the EEA is shown to be obsolete, can it be reviewed or must that process wait until the 
end of the life of the agreement; that is, after three years? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  If during the life of an EEA, an award was found to be obsolete, that would have no 
effect.  A similar question was asked when we debated EEAs.  The EEA is set for its duration.  In respect of 
capacity to vary or cancel an award, the persons who can make application are set out in section 40 of the Act.  It 
is not open to a minister to do that.   

Hon Alan Cadby:  Can the minister suggest to the commissioner that he have another look? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  No.  It is not open to a minister as such, but it would be a different matter if a minister 
happened to be named as a party to an award.  If the Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection had a 
particular view about an award, it would not be open to him, by virtue of his being the minister and having that 
view, to make application.  The entities that can do so must be the entities set out in section 40.  This matter is 
not dealt with by ministerial intervention as such.  It has happened that a minister has been named as a party to 
an award. 

Hon ALAN CADBY:  If a teacher is employed by the Government, would the minister then be a party to the 
award? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  If the minister is the employer, it is likely that the minister would be the named party.  It 
depends on who the employer is.  In the current situation, the department would be the employer rather than the 
minister, but if the minister is the employer, he could likely be a named party if an award is involved.  A minister 
may be a named party in respect of enrolled nurses, for example.  The public service award also names a number 
of ministers.  This is not a political process. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 118 to 120 put and passed. 

Clause 121:  Section 27 amended - 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  Clause 121 deals with amendments to powers of the commission in section 27(1).  Part 
5 deals with the general good running and operation of the Industrial Relations Commission and the Industrial 
Appeal Court.  This clause is an attempt to give the commission extra powers so that reasonably expeditious 
determinations can be made.  Our concern is that this might result in unnecessary directions for the conduct of a 
hearing by the commission.  For that reason we will be opposing this clause. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 122:  Section 32A inserted - 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  Proposed section 32A provides for the conciliation and arbitration functions of the 
Industrial Relations Commission to be unlimited.  This is an extensive and wide-ranging power for the 
commission to do anything and everything whenever it wishes, with no limitations.  What is the rationale behind 
the proposed new section? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The commission is given the express capacity to move from conciliation to arbitration 
and from arbitration to conciliation so that a matter can be dealt with expeditiously. 

Clause put and a division taken with the following result - 
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Ayes (17) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Jon Ford Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Graham Giffard Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon Christine Sharp  
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Dee Margetts Hon Tom Stephens  
Hon Adele Farina Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers  

Noes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Clause thus passed. 

Clause 123:  Section 34 amended - 
The CHAIRMAN:  An amendment stands in the name of Hon Ray Halligan that will have the effect of deleting 
the clause.  There is no need to move the amendment but Hon Ray Halligan may want to speak to that proposal. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  This is one of the first clauses that removes the right of appeal.  I am no lawyer but my 
understanding is that prerogative writs operate as an essential check and balance in Western Australia, and have 
so for some time.  To take away the right to seek a prerogative writ will not enhance the system and is far more 
likely to reduce its effectiveness.  Why has this clause been inserted into the Bill? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The intention is to give finality to proceedings.  This provision proposes that a writ of 
certiorari will not apply.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  Section 34(3) in the Industrial Relations Act currently states - 

Proceedings before the President, the Full Bench, or the Commission shall not be impeached or held 
bad for want of form nor shall they be removable to any court by certiorari or otherwise. 

Why is certiorari referred to specifically and then related to “on any ground relating to jurisdiction” or “any other 
ground” in the proposed new paragraphs?  The more that is written into this provision, the more it can be 
distinguished.  At the moment it seems to say that it cannot be taken anywhere.  Why mention certiorari and not 
prohibition or any of the other terms.  Why is “on any ground relating to jurisdiction” or “on any other ground” 
mentioned?  All that has been done by this amendment is to put a particular case that picks up everything and 
then to put another case to pick up everything.  Surely it would be better to just pick up everything in one 
instance.  As soon as specifics go into a provision, distinctions are made.  What is the difference between saying 
“certiorari or otherwise” and just saying “otherwise”?  What is the difference between saying “on any ground 
relating to jurisdiction” and “on any other ground”?  Does that not leave us exactly where we were before and, if 
it does not, why is it being put into the provision? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The most common prerogative writ used with respect to these matters is certiorari.  
Therefore, it is mentioned by name.  It is intended that the other prerogative writs such as mandamus and 
prohibition will be covered.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  Is it fair to say that by making these amendments nothing is changed? 

Hon N.D. Griffiths:  This amendment is by way of clarification and does not change the substantive law.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  I could not work out what the difference was because it appeared to be saying the same 
thing but with more words.  The more words put into a provision, the more likely it is that something can be 
done to it.  If “certiorari or otherwise” is put into the provision, it is like asking if mandamus or prohibition is 
included in otherwise.  If certiorari is mentioned, why was mandamus or prohibition not mentioned?  Perhaps, 
“otherwise” means only that sort of prerogative writ that is in the nature of a certiorari.  We can then talk about 
“on any grounds relating to jurisdiction”.  That sounds like certiorari to me.  However, the provision then states 
“on any other ground”.  Although the intention might be to make the provision clearer, it is all as clear as mud 
and likely to lead to total confusion in the same way that we on this side of the House and the minister - until he 
receives his explanation - are confused.  It does not worry me but it is one of those unnecessary, unhelpful and 
possibly self-defeating amendments.  By including this amendment, everybody will be utterly confused about 
why it was done.  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  I have enjoyed listening to Hon Peter Foss’s point of view.  
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Hon PETER FOSS:  I make the same point with regard to the amendment to section 34(4) under subclause 2, 
which seems to be even more confusingly clear!  Section 34(4) of the Act currently states that it cannot be 
challenged, appealed against, reviewed, quashed, or called in question by any court on any account whatsoever.  
By way of clarification, after the amendment the new proposed section will read -  

by any court on any ground relating to jurisdiction, or on any other ground.   

Presumably, that covers everything.  However, the fascinating part is that the word “account” has been changed 
to “ground”.  Why has that subtle change been made, what is the significance of it and, if there is any 
significance, why has the minister confused us by this subtle change in proposed section 34(4)?  What case has 
occurred to cause this clarification to be necessary? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  I am not advised of nor am I aware of any case.  The wording is interesting and I am 
advised that this is the wording that is preferred by those who have drafted the Bill.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  Therefore, it is not intended to make any change to the substance of the legislation but 
merely to clarify what is already the intent.  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  That is so.  

Clause put and passed.  

Clause 124:  Section 49 amended - 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  This clause is also of major concern to the Opposition because it appears to place an 
unnecessary limitation on the discretion of the full bench to remit matters to the commission, in the first instance, 
to correct errors found on appeal.  Will the minister explain the rationale for this limitation?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Experience has shown that it is time consuming for a matter to be remitted from the full 
bench to the commission for a re-hearing.  This is considered to be a commonsense approach.  If, for reasons of 
clarity, additional evidence is to be called, the matter could and should be remitted to the commission for further 
hearing and determination.  The full bench continues to have the ability to remit, but it is considered that the 
capacity to remit should not be there when the commission is able to make its decision.  It is purely an 
expeditious way of dealing with matters.   

Hon PETER FOSS:  Although I understand fully the logic and the sense of what is sought to be achieved by this 
clause, I am curious about what effect it will have in law.  It is obviously intended to require the full bench to do 
something, if it is able.  On appeal, the normal view is that the appellate court will not make up its mind on facts, 
particularly where there is a conflict of fact, without the opportunity to observe the witnesses.  That is frequently 
the reason matters are referred back, because, although the evidence is there, the resolution of the facts has not 
necessarily occurred because the lower court has made its decision on a different consideration.  If there is 
evidence, and the full bench considers that there has been a wrong treatment in the way that evidence has been 
handled by the commission, does the full bench then go on to draw its own conclusions as a result of this - 
resolving any dispute that needs resolution - or does it say that it is not as well placed as the commission to 
decide the matter?  Will there be any change in the basis of approach of the full bench to matters of fact, and will 
a matter only be remitted where there is an absence of evidence, not when there is contradictory evidence which 
has not been resolved by the commission?   

Sitting suspended from 3.45 to 4.00 pm 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  I will try to deal with the points raised by Hon Peter Foss.  However, it is now so long 
ago. 

Hon Peter Foss:  Yes.  Perhaps you could tell us what difference the amendment will make. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Currently the full bench has the capacity to deal with a matter or remit it, even if it 
could reasonably deal with it.  Therefore, the purpose of this amendment to the Act is to have the full bench deal 
with a matter if it can reasonably deal with it, full stop.  It still has a capacity to remit, but the amendment makes 
it clear that when the full bench is reasonably able to deal with a matter, it will do so.  In practice, I suppose that 
is a matter of conjecture. 

Hon PETER FOSS:  The minister has taken us back to section 49(5), which states - 

In the exercise of its jurisdiction under this section the Full Bench may, by order - 

(a) dismiss the appeal; - 

That is simple.  If it dismisses it, nothing more is to be done - 

(b) uphold the appeal and quash the decision - 



Extract from Hansard 
[COUNCIL - Wednesday, 19 June 2002] 

 p11597a-11610a 
Hon Alan Cadby; Hon Nick Griffiths; Hon Ray Halligan; Chairman; Hon Dee Margetts; Hon Murray Criddle; 

Hon Peter Foss 

 [10] 

That is all pretty simple too, because that means that is the end of it - 

or, subject to subsection (6), vary it in such manner as the Full Bench considers 
appropriate; - 

That allows the full bench to vary it - 

or  

(c) suspend the operation of the decision and remit the case to the Commission for further 
hearing and determination. 

Only when the full bench decides to suspend the operation of the decision does it remit it.  Paragraph (b) is said 
to be subject to subsection (6), which states - 

Where the Full Bench varies a decision under subsection (5)(b) the decision as so varied shall be in 
terms which could have been awarded by the Commission that gave the decision. 

That is not changed.  The only change we are making is to subsection (5)(c).  The amendment states - 

The Full Bench is not to remit a case to the Commission under subsection (5)(c) unless it considers that 
it is unable to make its own decision on the merits of the case because of lack of evidence or for other 
good reason. 

The amendment refers only to subsection (5)(c).  That really means that paragraphs (a) or (b) must be used.  
Subsection (5)(c) must not be used unless the full bench cannot make its own decision on the merits of the case 
because of lack of evidence or for other good reason.  We do not know what the other good reason is, but that 
will obviously be worked out by the full bench. 

For a start, I will deal with lack of evidence.  The full bench must either (a) dismiss the appeal or (b) uphold it 
and quash the decision, or vary it in such manner as it considers appropriate.  The full bench is not to remit a 
case unless it is unable to make its own decision on the merits of the case.  As a preference, the full bench must 
act under paragraphs (a) or (b).  That is as I read it.  Does the minister read paragraph (c) as meaning that the full 
bench is obliged to remit the case to the commission for further hearing and determination under any 
circumstance?  At the moment, are there any circumstances under which the full bench is obliged to remit a case 
under paragraph (c), and how will that be changed by new subsection (6a)?  Under what circumstances has the 
full bench held itself to be obliged to exercise the power in paragraph (c), and how will that be altered by 
subsection (6a)? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  First, I do not quite read that in the same way as the honourable member.  I do not see 
paragraphs (a), (b) or (c) being in an order of preference.  They are alternatives that the full bench can arrive at. 

Hon Peter Foss:  At the moment they are not in order of preference; I agree with that. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Subsection (5)(c) is a matter for the exercise of the commission’s discretion.  I have 
sought an example of a situation in which that discretion has been exercised.  However, I am not in a position to 
give such an example.  In what is being sought, this is considered to be a proposed direction by the Parliament to 
the commission about how the Parliament, if it so decides, wishes the commission to deal with matters. 

Hon PETER FOSS:  I agree that, as the section currently stands, paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) are not in any order 
of priority.  They are three alternatives available to the full bench in relation to which it can exercise its 
jurisdiction as it believes appropriate.  However, proposed subsection (6a) states that subsection (5)(c) will not 
be able to be used.  The full bench must decide under paragraphs (a) or (b), because that is all that is left to it, 
unless it considers that it is unable to make its own decision on the merits of the case.  In other words, the full 
bench must try to make its decision on the merits of the case.  However, if there is a lack of evidence or other 
good reason, it can remit it.  Obviously, I do not expect the minister to tell me what the other good reasons are at 
this stage.  That has obviously been included in case the full bench says, “Hang on, we should have thought of 
this one.”  Therefore, I do not expect the minister to know the answer to that.  However, the area in which it 
appears to me that there is a change is that if the full bench can possibly make a decision on the merits, unless 
there is a lack of evidence, it should do so.  Does this change the normal rule observed by appellate benches that 
they will not decide matters that could be decided on the basis of transcripts and evidence - they can look at them 
under subsection (4) - when conclusions are to be drawn that have not been drawn by the lower court?  In other 
words, they say, “Yes, there is evidence, and the judges could have come to a conclusion based on that evidence, 
but they have not; and we will not draw that conclusion because we were not there to observe the witnesses.”  It 
seems to me that what this does is say that even though an appellate bench would not normally draw conclusions 
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that were not drawn at first instance, because it believes that should be based on the demeanour of the witnesses, 
it now can draw conclusions.  Subclause (4) states -  

An appeal under this section -  

(a) shall be heard and determined on the evidence and matters raised in the proceedings before the 
Commission; and . . .  

We know the documents that will be relied on.  When we are talking about a lack of evidence, are we talking 
about a lack of direct evidence on the subject, or a lack of findings of fact from the evidence in the lower court, 
because generally speaking if there is not a finding the court will not make a finding itself?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  I agree with the proposition that this change seeks to have the full bench operate under 
either paragraph (a) or (b) if it can.  The next area is an evaluation of the evidence.  Bearing in mind that we are 
talking about the Industrial Relations Commission, which is not a court as such and is not bound by the formal 
rules of evidence in the same way as a court -  

Hon Peter Foss:  But there may be a conflict of evidence. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Yes.  The proposition as I understand it is: here are some words on paper and here are 
some other words on paper; we will go for the words that put forward this proposition rather than the words that 
put forward another proposition.  This change is not intended to change the law or the operations of the full 
bench with regard to the evaluation of evidence.  The change is a parliamentary direction to the full bench to 
come to a final decision if that can be done.   

Hon PETER FOSS:  We are now very close to what I think is the intent.  Let me see whether I can express in 
slightly different terms what I think the minister has just said to make sure I understand it properly.  It is not 
intended to change the normal rules of law whereby an appellate division will not substitute its evaluation of a 
witness for that of the primary tribunal, nor will it substitute imputations to be drawn from the evidence, such as 
the demeanour of the witnesses and so forth, for the direct words of the evidence.  I realise that at times an 
appellate court will disagree with a primary tribunal.  However, it is not intended to shift that in any way to one 
side.  Those rules will stay.  It is just that an extreme priority is being put on a decision under paragraphs (a) and 
(b) rather than under paragraph (c).  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  I add rules and practice, bearing in mind that we are not dealing with a formal court as 
such.  With that modest proviso, the member’s view is shared by me.   

Clause put and a division taken with the following result - .  

Ayes (17) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Jon Ford Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Graham Giffard Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 
Hon Kate Doust Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon Christine Sharp  
Hon Sue Ellery Hon Dee Margetts Hon Tom Stephens  
Hon Adele Farina Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers  

Noes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Clause thus passed. 

Clause 125:  Section 90 amended -  
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  The amendment that I had intended to move will effectively delete this clause.  I do not 
propose to proceed with that amendment.  Section 90 deals with appeals to courts from the commission.  
However, the proposed amendment to section 90 will severely limit a person’s right of appeal.  What evidence 
does the Government have to suggest that appeal rights are presently the subject of abuse?  Does the 
Government have a substantial argument to support its case?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  The Government, as a matter of policy, wishes an appeal to lie in the circumstances set 
out in clause 125, but not otherwise.  That is, an appeal should lie only in the event that significant and important 
legal issues have been raised.  It is a matter of a point of view rather than of evidence - I note the honourable 
member asked for evidence.  I suppose one could ask how long is a piece of string.  The advice given to me is 
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that appeals are not commonplace events; and that the appeals that occur usually relate to the matters listed in 
clause 125, except for proposed section 90(1)(c), which is not a common ground for appeal because it cannot 
currently be dealt with as a ground for appeal.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  This is another amendment that leaves me struggling to ascertain precisely what it does.  It 
is clear that the single biggest change is the change in the definition of industrial matter.  The effect of that has 
been to diminish the area of jurisdiction of the court, as the chances of arguing that something is not an industrial 
matter have been diminished because the definition of industrial matter has been greatly widened.  Why has the 
Government found it necessary to include in the part of the Act that deals with an appeal in the case of excess of 
jurisdiction the words “in that the matter the subject of the decision is not on an industrial matter”?  Is there any 
other form of excess of jurisdiction that the Government is seeking to exclude, or does it believe that that is 
already the only basis for doing so?  If the Government intends to exclude any other form of excess of 
jurisdiction, does it not consider that dangerous in view of the fact that prerogative writs, with their new and 
weird wording, are also excluded?  How will the person who believes that there has been an excess of 
jurisdiction appeal against that excess of jurisdiction if it does not fall within the matters outlined in proposed 
section 90(1)(a), (b) or (c)?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  An appeal cannot lie unless it falls within either proposed section 90(1)(a),(b) or (c).  
That is what the clause says. 

Hon Peter Foss:  What is being taken out of section 90 as it now stands?  Do those words add anything; and if so, 
what do they add?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Proposed paragraph (c) is a new ground of appeal that is not currently available.  The 
member has made observations about prerogative writs.  What is stated in proposed paragraphs (a) and (b) is 
essentially what occurs now.  Proposed paragraphs (a) and (b) can be considered declaratory current practice.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  I think the minister is saying that this is another one of those clarifying expansions that adds 
to the confusion of the legislation.  In other words, the amendment is intended not to change anything but to 
clarify the practice.  However, it obfuscates it.  Is proposed paragraph (c) an expansion or is it another error of 
law that is necessary to include because of the exclusionary effect of the additions to section 90 of proposed 
subsection (1)(a) and (b)? 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  It is considered that it should be a ground of appeal.  

Hon Peter Foss:  I think it is, until proposed paragraphs (a) and (b) are considered. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  It is considered that it should be a ground of appeal.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  I agree entirely with the minister that it should be a ground of appeal.  However, I think that 
it will not be a ground of appeal because of the limitations imposed by proposed paragraphs (a) and (b).  For 
example, a decision would be erroneous in law if a person were not given a right to be heard.  I think it is an 
error of law to not give a person the right to be heard.  Would proposed paragraph (a) pick up the situation that 
used to occur occasionally when certain people were in the Small Claims Tribunal?  I remember that in one case 
an order was made against a witness who was not one of the parties to a consumer transaction rather than against 
the parties to the transaction.  It was a curious result that was successfully challenged by certiorari in the 
Supreme Court.  Proposed paragraph (a) will add to the current provision in the Act dealing with excess of 
jurisdiction the words “in that the matter the subject of the decision is not on an industrial matter”.  It could very 
well be that something is an industrial matter but is affected by a bizarre aberration on the part of a court that has 
decided to give relief against a witness and not necessarily a party.  Would the minister agree that rather than 
adding to the certainty, the addition of those words will add to the confusion about what appeals will be 
excluded?  My understanding is that the Government does not intend to exclude any grounds for appeal by 
adding proposed subsection (1)(a) to section 90.  However, it might exclude something.  If that will be the case, 
why is the Government doing it?  

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  I do not agree with what is being put forward.  I do not see how the member can 
reasonably come to that conclusion.  

Hon PETER FOSS:  I come to that conclusion because I think that, as a result of the first part of the amendment, 
the Government has had to include proposed paragraph (c).  Proposed paragraph (b) is another case.  What is 
wrong with an appeal being heard because something is erroneous in law?  Why must the error of law relate to 
only “the construction or interpretation of any Act, regulation, award, industrial agreement or order in the course 
of making the decision appealed against”?  If it is wrong in law, should there not be a remedy?  By allowing an 
error in law only through statutory interpretation, the Government is leaving out all other possible errors of law.  
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By not permitting certiorari or other prerogative writs, the Government is effectively saying that the commission 
can make errors of law as long as they are not of statutory construction. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Paragraph (b) deals with interpretation of instruments and statutory construction.  
Among other things, it deals with industrial agreements that are not statutes.  We are dealing with the 
construction of words.  Paragraph (c) is a separate matter from construction.  Paragraph (a) is the other restraint.  
That is what the Government intends to do, subject to the will of the Committee. 

Hon PETER FOSS:  As long as the Government knows what it is doing.  It is effectively saying that the 
commission can make errors of law unless they are areas of statutory construction and interpretation of 
instruments.  All other categories are out and cannot be appealed against.  Excesses of jurisdiction will be 
allowed as long as they do not impinge on things that are not industrial matters.  Jurisdiction can be exceeded 
when an order is made against someone.  The minister knows that paragraph (c) refers to a rule of natural justice.  
If a court disregards the rules of natural justice it errs in law.  That was not a concern before because natural 
justice was there; to ignore it would be an error in law.  Having got rid of natural justice, among other areas of 
law, the Government has put one of them back.  Only one element of natural justice has been reinserted.  The 
Government intends to wipe out natural justice except for audi alteram partem; all the rest is gone.  It seems 
extraordinary that the Government is doing this.  It is not doing it unawares as it has carefully put one 
circumstance back.  If the Government had not inserted paragraph (c), I could understand it.  The Government 
could say that it did not intend to exclude the rules of natural justice along with other errors of law.  However, 
the Government does know because it is specifically putting back one of the rules of natural justice.  Why is the 
Government doing that?  The Government might see the commission as the friend of the worker and, rather than 
offend an employer, the commission sees itself in the middle, not favouring one side or the other.  If the 
commission errs and fails to observe the rules of natural justice, it may be the worker who misses out.  Does the 
Government really want to make all these complex amendments that do not appear to do anything other than 
allow undefined excesses of jurisdiction?  The Government cannot say what they will be, so why is it doing it?  
No court should have the power to exceed its jurisdiction.  I see no reason that courts should be limited to one 
kind of excessive jurisdiction.   

The Government has ruled out errors of law other than statutory construction.  I see no reason for that.  In 
addition to ruling out errors of law and the rules of natural justice, the Government has put back one rule of 
natural justice.  The only answer provided is that that is what the Government intends to do.  I do not understand 
why the Government wants to make these changes.  Can it point me to something that has been a problem; 
something it wants to change?  There is real mischief here.  The Government cannot say why it is doing this 
other than it is what it wants to do.  I find it quite bizarre that it cannot point to some clear and distinct problem 
that warrants its getting rid of fundamental legal rights: the right not to be judged in excess of jurisdiction, the 
right not to have errors of law made and the right to natural justice.  All those things have been modified for no 
apparent reason other than it is what the Government wants to do.  Such fundamental changes should have better 
justification than the non-justification that we have heard today. 

Clause put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (16) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Adele Farina Hon Dee Margetts Hon Christine Sharp 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Jon Ford Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers 
Hon Kate Doust Hon Graham Giffard Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Sue Ellery Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 

Noes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson 
(Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Clause thus passed.  

Clause 126:  Section 6 amended - 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  Part 6 deals with amendments about industrial agreements and good faith bargaining 
and is the real crux of this legislation.  Industrial relations in this State will be centralised with the use of 
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collective bargaining and industrial agreements.  It has also been said that this is union collective bargaining and, 
therefore, these will be union industrial agreements.  This part of the Bill introduces a new concept of good faith 
bargaining into Western Australia, which sounds very good in theory.  Good faith bargaining applies to the 
process of bargaining; it does not apply to the outcome.  There is a marked difference.  These provisions give 
unions particular leverage; in fact, unions are given a great deal of leverage throughout this legislation.  Clause 
126, with its new direction towards collective bargaining, indicates a real philosophical shift from individual 
contractual bargaining to collective principles.  Proposed new paragraph (ad) states -  

to promote collective bargaining and to establish the primacy of collective agreements over individual 
agreements; 

The Opposition believes that this is a denial of the rights of workers who want individual agreements.  I move -  

Page 131, lines 14 to 16 - To delete the lines. 

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  This amendment will remove reference to the primacy of collective agreements over 
individual agreements, which delineates the difference between the Greens (WA) and the Liberal Party on this 
issue.  We have said all along that the legislation should promote the primacy of collective bargaining and good 
outcomes, good workplaces and good results for everybody.  From our point of view, this is probably 
fundamental for this legislation.  We will not support the amendment. 

Hon MURRAY CRIDDLE:  I support the removal of proposed paragraph (ad).  It goes against my grain to see a 
move towards collective bargaining.  I have said many times throughout this debate that I will not agree to any 
further move towards collective bargaining.  Individuals in the work force can well and truly deal with the issue 
themselves, and it is of great benefit to employers and employees to have that opportunity.  As I said previously, 
this legislation indicates that collective agreements will be prioritised. 

Amendment put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Noes (16) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Adele Farina Hon Dee Margetts Hon Christine Sharp 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Jon Ford Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers 
Hon Kate Doust Hon Graham Giffard Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Sue Ellery Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 

Amendment thus negatived. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  I move -  

Page 131, lines 25 and 26 - To delete “employers, employees and organisations” and insert instead -  

employers and employees 

Hon DEE MARGETTS:  This amendment removes the reference to employee organisations - unions - and 
basically indicates that people must try to work their way through industrial agreements by themselves without 
the backup and support of employee organisations.  That is totally inappropriate and a very old-fashioned, us-
and-them, back-to-last-century type approach. 

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  A lot of things are old-fashioned, have been here for hundreds of years and are still 
being used.  In the eight years that the coalition was in government it was proved that individuals could make 
decisions for themselves.  We are not back in the days of Stalin when everyone’s decisions were made for them, 
including when a person would get out of bed in the morning and go to work in the fields.  People in this country 
and this State have proved they are good at making decisions.  That is why this State has been so innovative over 
the years.  That has not happened because of collectives but because of individuals.  Yet again we are telling 
Western Australians that they cannot think for themselves and they must have a union do it for them.  That is 
something that we do not agree with.   
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Amendment put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Noes (16) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Adele Farina Hon Dee Margetts Hon Christine Sharp 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Jon Ford Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers 
Hon Kate Doust Hon Graham Giffard Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Sue Ellery Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 

Amendment thus negatived. 

Clause put and a division taken with the following result - 

Ayes (16) 

Hon Kim Chance Hon Adele Farina Hon Dee Margetts Hon Christine Sharp 
Hon Robin Chapple Hon Jon Ford Hon Louise Pratt Hon Ken Travers 
Hon Kate Doust Hon Graham Giffard Hon Ljiljanna Ravlich Hon Giz Watson 
Hon Sue Ellery Hon N.D. Griffiths Hon J.A. Scott Hon E.R.J. Dermer (Teller) 

Noes (15) 

Hon Alan Cadby Hon John Fischer Hon Barry House Hon Barbara Scott 
Hon George Cash Hon Peter Foss Hon Robyn McSweeney Hon Bill Stretch 
Hon Murray Criddle Hon Ray Halligan Hon Norman Moore Hon Bruce Donaldson (Teller) 
Hon Paddy Embry Hon Frank Hough Hon Simon O’Brien  

Clause thus passed. 

Clause 127:  Section 7 amended - 
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  Proposed subsection (5) under clause (2) states - 

In this Act - 

(a) a reference to an industrial matter includes a reference to a matter relating to 
bargaining in good faith for an industrial agreement; 

It appears we are expanding the definition of industrial matter, which may move into areas that would not 
normally be considered an industrial matter.  Has the minister given that matter some thought and determined 
whether any increased burdens might be encountered along the way?   
Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:  Frankly, I cannot see what difficulty the member is driving at.  
Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  That is fine.  The minister never sees a difficulty, but there are always two sides to 
every story.  
Hon N.D. Griffiths:  I am looking at a difficulty.  

Hon RAY HALLIGAN:  No - I could become one, if we retain that attitude.  I thought it was quite a reasonable 
question.  
Debate interrupted, pursuant to standing orders.  
[Continued on page 11618.] 
 


